1979

# State of Utah v. Byron S. Ambrose : Brief of Defendant-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a criminal action brought by the State of Utah against the Defendant-Appellant, BYRON S. AMBROSE, alleging that the Defendant-Appellant intentionally or knowingly attempted to cause the death of Gordon Birrell, in violation of Utah Code Annotated (1953), Sections 76-4-101 and 76-5-203, a felony of the second degree.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Defendant-Appellant was convicted by a jury and was represented by his court appointed attorney, D. John Musselman, Esq.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Defendant-Appellant seeks a reversal of his conviction and dismissal of the charges or in the alternative, a new trial.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Defendant-Appellant was tried twice in six months for attempted homicide arising from separate factual situations. This appeal directly concerns the second trial of September 14 and 15, 1978. The first trial resulted in a mistrial and this court held that a retrial was barred by the double jeopardy provision of the Utah and Federal Constitutions. State of Utah v. Ambrose, 598 P.2d 354 (1979).

During the course of the second trial, Frank Mitchell, alleged victim of the first incident, entered the courtroom, and the trial judge immediately called a recess. The judge asked Mr. Mitchell not to remain in the courtroom but allowed Mitchell's wife to stay in the audience. Mitchell remained in the courthouse accessible to the jury during breaks and recesses. No action was taken by the judge to isolate the jury from any prejudicial actions by Mitchell, his wife, or other third persons.

The critical factual dispute in this case concerned the actual incident of the shooting. The prosecutor, in his closing argument to the jury, characterized the dispute as one of believing either the alleged victim or the defendant-appellant. To destroy the credibility of the defendant-appellant, the prosecutor relied substantially on evidence concerning the shots fired and the truck that was hit by those shots. Evidence was offered to explain the route of the bullets after they hit the truck.



The police impounded the truck as evidence and the truck remained in their custody until "we [the police] had gotten what we [the police] needed from it." Then the truck was released to the registered owner in Colorado. The police did not perform any ballistics tests on the truck and released it without informing the defendant-appellant. The defendant-appellant did not have the opportunity to perform any tests on the truck, or use the truck as evidence to bolster his credibility. The jury found the defendant-appellant guilty. Currently the defendant-appellant is incarcerated in the Utah State Prison.

#### POINT I

THE PROSECUTION BREACHED THEIR DUTY TO PREVENT THE LOSS OR DESTRUCTION OF EVIDENCE FAVORABLE TO THE ACCUSED IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS.

The prosecution in the closing argument of this trial properly characterized the factual dispute to be resolved by the jury as deciding to believe either the alleged victim or to believe the defendant-appellant. (T 251:12-23) The prosecution strongly emphasized conflicting testimony between officer Bath and the defendant-appellant concerning the truck that received the bulk of the shots which were fired. (T 251-253) The Orem Police Department retained custody of the impounded truck as evidence until "we [the police] had gotten what we [the police] needed from it," and then it was released without notice to the defendant-appellant to the registered owner in Colorado. (T 151:5-14).

No ballistics tests were performed on the truck by the police (T 150 and T 235: 23-27) and the defendant-appellant did not have any opportunity to perform tests on the truck or use the truck to establish his credibility. The defendant was convicted.

This court has recognized that the prosecution is under a duty to treat the accused fairly (State of Utah v. Adams, 583 P.2d 89 (1978)) and that a deliberate suppression or destruction of evidence by the prosecution constitutes a denial of due process if the evidence is material to the guilt or innocence of the accused. State of Utah v. Stewart, 544 P.2d 477-479 (Utah 1975) The duty to treat the defendant fairly extends not only to a deliberate destruction but also the negligent destruction of evidence material to the defense is tantamount to unlawful suppression and a denial of due process. People v. Harmes, 38 Colo. App. 378, 560 P.2d 470 (1976). Those charged with the prosecution have a duty to seek justice (Code of Professional Responsibility, Canon 7, EC 7-13; see also ABA, Standards Relating to the Prosecution Function) and to prevent the loss or destruction of evidence favorable to the accused. People v. Roblas, 568 P.2d 57 (Colo. 1977).

The duty of fairness to the accused also requires the prosecution to affirmatively preserve evidence. This court recognized that principle in State of Utah v. Stewart, supra at 479:

"Those charged with investigation and prosecution of crime should retain intact all records and other evidence pertaining to the case until it is finally disposed of."

The Supreme Court of Arizona in State v. Maloney, 105 Ariz. 348, 352, 464 P.2d 793, cert. denied, sub nom. Maloney v. Arizona, 400 U.S. 841, 91 S. Ct. 82, 27 L. Ed.2d 75 (1970), stated:  
"[C]learly the state is not to decide for the court what is admissible, or, for the defense, what is useful." See also: Scales v. City Court, City of Mesa, 122 Ariz. 231, 594 P.2d 97 (1979).

The State must, in order to insure due process under the 5th and 14th Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and under Article I, Section 7 of the Utah Constitution, collect and preserve evidence that is reasonably and foreseeably favorable to the accused, especially when that evidence is in the immediate control of the prosecution. The Colorado Supreme Court in Garcia v. District Court, 21st Judicial District recently held:

"The failure of the state to collect and preserve evidence, when those acts can be accomplished as a mere incident to a procedure routinely performed by state agents, is tantamount to suppression of that evidence. It is incumbent upon the state to employ regular procedures to preserve evidence which a state agent, in the regular performance of his duties, could reasonably foresee 'might' be 'favorable' to the accused." [emphasis added] 589 P.2d 924 (Colo. 1979).

Error is committed where the destroyed or lost evidence may have created a reasonable doubt of the accused's guilt.  
U. S. v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 96 S.Ct. 2392, 49 L.Ed.2d 342 (1976).

If the accused can make a showing of materiality of the lost evidence and prejudice to the accused, then the State's failure to preserve a truck should have resulted in a dismissal of the criminal charges. State of Idaho v. White, 98 Idaho 781, 572 P.2d 884 (1977).

In this case, the prosecution breached their duty of fairness to the accused and violated the accused's right of due process by failing to prevent the loss or destruction of evidence favorable to him. The Orem Police Department knew or should have known that a vehicle substantially involved in an alleged attempted homicide could be evidence favorable to the accused. The credibility of the accused's testimony turned directly on the evidence of the shooting and the truck and the prosecutor so argued to the jury. The police failed to preserve the impounded vehicle in their possession and did not perform ballistics tests on the vehicle. The accused did not have the opportunity to so test the vehicle since the vehicle was returned to its owner in Colorado. If the accused had the opportunity to test the evidence, he may have bolstered his credibility before the jury and received an acquittal. Because the error committed was prejudicial to the defendant-appellant his conviction should be reversed and the charges dismissed on grounds that defendant's due process rights were violated.

## POINT II

THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY TAKE MEASURES TO PRESERVE EVIDENCE FAVORABLE TO THE ACCUSED AND MOVE FOR DISMISSAL BASED ON THE LOSS OF FAVORABLE EVIDENCE.

Mr. D. John Musselman, Esq., was the court appointed attorney for the defendant-appellant during his trial of September 14 and 15, 1978. As previously argued in Point I of this brief, certain crucial evidence favorable to the defendant (a truck) was not preserved for trial and was unavailable for the accused's defense. Further, the record as a whole discloses that defendant's court appointed counsel failed to move for a dismissal based upon the loss of favorable evidence.

The 6th and 14th Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Utah Constitution guarantee that the accused is entitled to the effective assistance of court appointed counsel if indigent. Webster v. Jones, 587 P.2d 528 (Utah 1978). The test this court has adopted to examine the effectiveness of defense counsel was stated in State of Utah v. McNicol, 554 P.2d 203 (Utah 1976):

"The record must establish that counsel was ignorant of the facts or the law, resulting in withdrawal of a crucial defense, reducing the trial to a 'farce and a sham.'" supra at 204.

The Court in McNicol, supra, recognized the vital distinction between a constitutionally adequate defense consisting of a careful factual and legal investigation and tactical or strategic decisions after a careful factual and legal inquiry.

A careful factual investigation by the defendant's counsel would have disclosed the vital importance the truck would hold in determining what happened at the scene of the alleged crime and in determining the credibility of the accused. It is not unreasonable to expect that the defendant would want his own ballistic reports on the gun and on the truck to establish his only defense.

Most importantly, the defendant should not be punished or penalized for his court appointed counsel's procrastination in seeking to preserve relevant and favorable evidence. People v. Harmes, 38 Colo. App. 378, 560 P.2d 470 (1976).

Further, once defense counsel had determined that the trial would turn on such factual evidence, and that such evidence was no longer available due to actions of the police (See Point I in this brief), a careful legal inquiry into relevant law would have disclosed that a motion to dismiss should have been granted on the grounds that evidence favorable to the accused was lost or destroyed by the police. (See Point I of this brief).

The only reasonable explanation for the record in this case, is that the defense counsel was ignorant of the facts because of a lack of investigation and that he was unaware of relevant law that resulted in the withdrawal of a crucial defense reducing the trial to a sham. Had competent counsel been aware of the facts and law of this case, competency would require affirmative action to preserve the evidence or alternatively, a motion to dismiss based upon the loss or destruction of evidence favorable to the accused that was in police custody. The record does not disclose any action by counsel to preserve the truck as evidence, or to move to dismiss on grounds of prosecution destruction of evidence. Such error was prejudicial to the accused and denied him the effective assistance of court appointed counsel.

Therefore, alternatively, the defendant-appellant's conviction should be reversed and the case dismissed.

### POINT III

THE TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO TAKE PROPER PROTECTIVE MEASURES TO ISOLATE THE JURY FROM PREJUDICIAL ACTIONS AND INFORMATION IN VIOLATION OF THE ACCUSED'S RIGHTS TO AN IMPARTIAL JURY AND DUE PROCESS.

The record discloses that during the course of this trial, the alleged victim of the accused in a previous trial, Frank Mitchell, entered the courtroom during the testimony and the trial judge immediately called a recess. (T 112:9-30, 113, 114,

115:1-29). Mitchell's wife was also present during the trial. Mitchell was asked to leave the courtroom but was allowed to remain in the courthouse, accessible to the jurors. (T 242, 243). Mitchell's wife remained in the courtroom (T 115). No action was taken by the trial judge to prevent further prejudicial occurrences to the jury.

It is well established in Utah "that due process requirements of the Constitution of Utah and the United States guarantee that an accused receive a trial before a fair and impartial jury free from outside influences." State v. Pierre, 572 P.2d 1338, 1348 (Utah 1977) cert. denied 439 U.S. 882 (1978). Further, the U. S. Supreme Court has mandated that when necessary the trial judge must take appropriate measures to maintain a fair and impartial jury free from outside influences. Sheppard v. Maxwell, 384 U.S. 333, 86 S.Ct. 1507, 16 L.Ed. 2d 600 (1966). See also: State v. Jarrett, 112 Utah 335, 187 P.2d 547 (1947).

Recently the U.S. Supreme Court has held that the trial judge has the affirmative constitutional duty to minimize prejudicial acts and may order sequestration of the jury or take any of a variety of protective measures even when they are not strictly and inescapably necessary in order to insure that inadmissible prejudicial information be kept from the jury. Gannett Co., Inc. v. DePasquale, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 99 S.Ct. 2898 (1979). Moreover, the U.S. Supreme Court in DePasquale, supra, held that the right to an impartial jury is personal to the



accused and that members of the public have no constitutional right to attend criminal trials. Thus, the public may be excluded from criminal trials.

The failure of the trial judge to exclude both Frank Mitchell and his wife from the courtroom and the courthouse where the jury was present during breaks and recesses was prejudicial error in light of the informative record. (T 248:8-11) Alternatively, the trial judge should have taken other protective measures such as sequestration to isolate the jury from any potential prejudicial comments or actions. The record discloses that poor facilities were perhaps the underlying reason for not sequestering the jury. (T 18:15-18).

Therefore, because of the actual prejudicial actions that took place in or near the courtroom, the trial judge failed to take necessary protective measures such as exclusion of the public and sequestration of the jury to preserve the accused's right to trial by an impartial jury and right to due process guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution, Sixth Amendment and the Utah Consitution, Article I, Section 12. Such failure resulted in actual prejudice to the accused and the defendant-appellant's conviction should be reversed and a new trial granted.

#### CONCLUSION

The loss or destruction of evidence favorable to the defendant was a breach of the prosecution's duty of fairness and

violative of due process. Said breach requires the conviction to be reversed and the case dismissed. Alternatively, said loss or destruction of favorable evidence was caused by ineffective court appointed counsel because of counsel's ignorance of the facts and of the law resulting in the withdrawal of a crucial defense to the accused which reduced the trial to a sham, requiring a reversal of the conviction and dismissal of the action.

Moreover, the trial judge failed to take proper protective measures to preserve the accused's constitutional right to trial by an impartial jury. Under this theory, the conviction must be reversed and remanded for a new trial.