1979

## State of Utah v. Byron S. Ambrose : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THE PROSECUTION DID NOT BREACH  
ANY DUTY TO APPELLANT TO PRESERVE  
EVIDENCE.

Appellant contends that he was denied his right to due process because the prosecution "failed to preserve" the truck which the appellant drove to and from the scene of the crime. After the Orem City Police took photographs of the truck to be used in evidence, the truck was released to the registered owner who resided in Colorado (T.151). Appellant alleges that the police

should not have released the truck and that such conduct constitutes destruction or suppression of evidence material to his guilt or innocence. Specifically, appellant urges that "If the accused had the opportunity to test the evidence, he may have bolstered his credibility before the jury and received an acquittal [sic]." Appellant's Brief, p. 6.

Under the standards set by cases cited by appellant and by other cases, appellant has failed to allege or prove error sufficient to require reversal of his conviction. First, there was no "loss" or "destruction" of evidence in the case at bar such as was involved in the cases cited by appellant involving destruction of the results of breathalyzer tests or loss or destruction of tape recordings. See, e.g., People v. Harmes, 560 P.2d 470 (Colo. App. 1976); Scales v. City Court, City of Mesa, 594 P.2d 97 (Ariz. 1979). In this case, the truck was available to appellant and his trial counsel to conduct independent tests throughout the time that the truck was impounded by the Orem City Police. Nevertheless, appellant made no request to make such tests during that time. In addition, even after the truck was released to the true owners, appellant could have issued a subpoena to obtain access to the truck to perform tests. Thus, the evidence

was not "lost" to the appellant in the sense that a videotape or recorded tape may be lost by destruction. For example, in People v. Harmes, 560 P.2d 470 (Colo. App. 1976), relied upon by appellant, the court emphasized that destruction of a videotape of the assault for which the defendant was charged precluded the defendant from ever demonstrating whether or not he was guilty.

Finally, the photographs of the truck taken by the police were made available to appellant's trial counsel during the trial, and were actually introduced into evidence as defendant's exhibits (T.140-142). The relevant "evidence" as to the bullet markings on and damage to the truck was before the jury and appellant had the opportunity to raise any possible defenses based upon this evidence. Respondent submits that the prosecution here complied with the recommendation of this Court in State v. Stewart, 544 P.2d 477 (Utah 1975):

We think it advisable that those charged with investigation and prosecution of crime should retain intact all records and other evidence pertaining to the case until it is finally disposed of.

544 P.2d 479. The truck itself could not have been introduced in evidence at the trial. However, the prosecution took photographs of the truck and preserved and made them available at trial. The prosecution has

no affirmative duty to anticipate a defendant's defenses nor to affirmatively collect and produce evidence which would be favorable to the defense, especially where the source of such evidence is equally available to the defense. State v. Totten, 577 P.2d 1165 (Ida. 1978); State v. Falk, 567 P.2d 235 (Wash.App. 1977). Thus, there was in this case no "loss" or "destruction" of the truck and it follows that the prosecution did not breach its duty to preserve evidence.

Two cases decided by the United States Supreme Court have established a general rule regarding suppression of evidence by the prosecution. In Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), Brady and his companion, Boblit, were convicted of first-degree murder and were sentenced to death. Brady's counsel specifically requested before trial that the prosecution disclose any extrajudicial statements made by Boblit in the possession of the prosecution. Although some statements were turned over, one was not, which contained an admission that Boblit had done the actual killing. In Brady's post-conviction hearing, the Maryland Court of Appeals held this suppression violated defendant's right to due process and remanded the case for reconsideration of the punishment, but not the guilt, of Brady.

In what has since become known as the "Brady rule," the United States Supreme Court wrote:

We now hold that the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good or bad faith of the prosecution.

373 U.S. 83, 87. Thus, the rule adopted in Brady applies where the defense made a request for the material allegedly suppressed before trial.

The Supreme Court further clarified the Brady rule in United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97 (1976). In Agurs, the defendant was convicted of second-degree murder for killing James Sewell with a knife. The defendant and Sewell had engaged in intercourse in a motel room, Sewell then left briefly, and when he returned, apparently found defendant attempting to steal his money. A struggle ensued in which Sewell was stabbed by the defendant with one of two knives Sewell had been carrying. At trial, the defendant alleged that she acted in self-defense and that Sewell was a violent person.

Defendant's counsel discovered after trial that Sewell had a prior criminal record, including charges of carrying a deadly weapon (a knife), and that the prosecution knew of this record but failed to disclose it to the defense.

Defendant's motion for a new trial based upon "newly discovered" evidence was denied by the district court judge who found that the evidence was not material. The Court of Appeals reversed, on the basis of the fact that if the evidence had been disclosed it "might" have affected the jury verdict.

The United States Supreme Court carefully distinguished this case from Brady, supra:

In Brady, the request was specific. It gave the prosecutor notice of exactly what the defense desired. Although there is, of course, no duty to provide defense counsel with unlimited discovery of everything known by the prosecutor, if the subject matter is material, or indeed if a substantial basis for claiming materiality exists, it is reasonable to require the prosecutor to respond either by furnishing the information or by submitting the problem to the trial judge. When the prosecutor receives a specific and relevant request, the failure to make any response is seldom, if ever, excusable.

427 U.S. 97 (emphasis added). However, in cases in which the defendant or his counsel either makes no request or makes a general request for "any exculpatory material," the latter of which the Court states is the same as making no request at all, a different standard applies.

In such cases, the information in the possession of the prosecution is generally unknown to the defense and thus the issue becomes when the prosecutor must volunteer information from his files to the defense. The Court, in

answering this question, focuses on the concern that the failure to disclose is of "sufficient significance to result in the denial of the defendant's right to a fair trial," 427 U.S. 97, 108. In rejecting the standard of "materiality" of the undisclosed evidence adopted by the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court wrote:

The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish "materiality" in the constitutional sense.

427 U.S. 97, 109-110. Rather:

The proper standard of materiality must reflect our overriding concern with the justice of the finding of guilt. Such a finding is permissible only if supported by evidence establishing guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. It necessarily follows that if the omitted evidence creates a reasonable doubt that did not otherwise exist, constitutional error has been committed. This means that the omission must be evaluated in the context of the entire record. If there is no reasonable doubt about guilt or whether or not the additional evidence is considered, there is no justification for a new trial.

427 U.S. 97, 112-113. In a case as the present one where there is no specific request for disclosure of exculpatory material, the prosecution has a duty to sua sponte turn evidence over to the defense only where the evidence would have created a reasonable doubt as to guilt which did not otherwise exist.

Respondent submits that under the Agurs standard, appellant has not established that had he been able to introduce evidence as to the truck it would have created a reasonable doubt as to his guilt which did not otherwise exist. Appellant has never contested that he was present at the scene of the crime, that he fired five shots from a shotgun at Gordon Birrell, or that he drove a white Dodge pickup to and from the scene of the crime. Rather, he alleges only that if he had performed independent ballistics tests and introduced such evidence it might have "bolstered his credibility" before the jury. Bolstering credibility is not the same as creating an otherwise absent reasonable doubt as to guilt or innocence. It should be noted that appellant has not challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to authorize his conviction. See Taylor v. State, 253 S.E.2d 191, 194 (Ga. 1979).

Further, several courts have recognized that where evidence is equally available to both the prosecution and the defense, there can be no "suppression" of such evidence by the prosecution. In the case of Anderson v. Leake, 248 S.E.2d 120 (S.C. 1978), the Supreme Court of South Carolina, in discussing the issue of prosecutorial suppression of evidence, wrote:

Although not expressly stated in the opinion, we think it is implicit that the Brady rule applies only to favorable evidence which the prosecution has but which is unavailable to the defendant. . .

[W]here the evidence is equally available to the accused, the obligation on the part of the State to furnish such evidence to the accused is relieved.

248 S.E.2d 120, 122 (emphasis in original).

The Court in Anderson cited with approval this Court's holding in Ward v. Turner, 12 Utah 2d 310, 366 P.2d 72 (1961), to the same effect. Since the truck in the case at bar was equally available to appellant and to the state, there was no prosecutorial "suppression" of material evidence.

## POINT II

### APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED HIS RIGHT TO ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

Appellant alleges that he was denied his constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel in the trial of this case. Specifically, appellant complains that his counsel's failure to take adequate steps to preserve the availability of the truck which appellant drove to the scene of the crime (see Point I, supra) or to move for dismissal based upon the "loss" of the truck as evidence constituted ineffective assistance.

Appellant correctly identifies the case of State v. McNicol, 554 P.2d 203 (Utah 1976), as stating the standard set by this Court in evaluating a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel:

. . . the right of the accused to have counsel is not satisfied by a sham or pretense of an appearance in the record by an attorney who manifests no real concern about the interests of the accused. He is entitled to the assistance of a competent member of the Bar, who shows a willingness to identify himself with the interests of the accused and present such defenses as are available under the law and consistent with the ethics of the profession. . .

The record must establish that counsel was ignorant of the facts or the law, resulting in withdrawal of a crucial defense, reducing the trial to a "farce and a sham."

554 P.2d 202, 204. This Court further stated in McNicol:

A defendant bears the burden of establishing the inadequacy or ineffectiveness of counsel, and proof of such must be a demonstrable reality and not a speculative matter.

554 P.2d 202, 204. Respondent submits that appellant has failed to meet this burden in that his allegations do not establish with any degree of certainty what "crucial defense" was not presented on the basis of the failure to preserve the truck as evidence.

As discussed in Point I, supra, appellant's only contention with respect to the truck is that had he

been able to perform independent ballistics tests he "may have bolstered his credibility before the jury." This does not establish the withdrawal of a crucial defense, but is rather a matter of pure speculation, which does not support the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

This Court has recognized that counsel's performance should not be evaluated in the benefit of hindsight and that the failure to make certain motions or objections which would have been futile if raised does not constitute ineffective assistance. State v. McNicol, supra; Heinlin v. Smith, 542 P.2d 1081 (Utah 1975). Since appellant's claim of loss or destruction of the truck as evidence is groundless (see Point I, supra), a motion to dismiss on that ground by his trial counsel would have been useless..

In Alires v. Turner, 22 Utah 2d 118, 449 P.2d 241 (1969), this Court recognized that an important inquiry in deciding upon a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is whether better representation might have had some effect on the result of the trial. If such a probable different result does not appear, there is no prejudicial error warranting reversal of the conviction.

To the same effect is the statement in the recent case of State of Utah v. James M. Gray, No. 15550, decided October 2, 1979:

There is the further proposition to be considered: that even if his counsel did not perform as skillfully as the now-convicted defendant might have desired, his guilt was so clearly evident that even in the absence of any misjudgment of counsel we do not believe there is any reasonable likelihood that there would have been a different result, wherefore, there should be no reversal of the conviction. The defendant has not established anything more than mere speculation as to prejudice because of ineffectiveness of his counsel.

Id. at page 3 of the opinion.

Respondent submits that in the case here, appellant's guilt of the crime charged was proved beyond a reasonable doubt. There is no likelihood that even had his trial counsel performed tests upon the truck and introduced such evidence at trial the appellant would not have been found guilty based upon the evidence presented by the state and the fact that appellant did not seriously dispute his involvement in the shooting. This case presents an example of the concern voiced by Justice Crockett in State v. Harris, 30 Utah 2d 354, 517 P.2d 1313 (1974):

. . . we are impelled to remark that it is nothing less than shameful that our law seems to have degenerated to a point where whenever an accused is convicted of crime, the charge of incompetency of counsel is, with ever increasing frequency, leveled at capable attorneys who have given entirely adequate service, when the real difficulty was that he had a guilty client.

517 P.2d 1313, 1315.

Based upon the foregoing argument, appellant was given effective assistance of counsel at trial and thus his conviction should be affirmed.

#### POINT III

APPELLANT WAS NOT DEPRIVED OF HIS  
RIGHT TO TRIAL BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY.

Appellant alleges that the trial judge failed to take proper measures to isolate the jury from possibly prejudicial information. During the trial, Frank Mitchell, the victim of a crime for which appellant had previously been tried entered the courtroom. Judge Ballif immediately called a recess, and held a hearing in his chambers with both counsel, appellant, and Mr. Mitchell present (T.113-114). In that hearing the following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: And what is your position, Mr. Mitchell? Why are you here? Did you realize the possibility exists of any kind of disruption that may occur with your presence here because of the prior incident?

MR. MITCHELL: No, sir.

THE COURT: It could cause a mis-trial in this case.

MR. MITHCELL: I didn't know that, sir.

THE COURT: Apparently you hadn't been advised of that fact, and that is why I recessed proceedings in this matter. I would hope that you would understand that, and I'm going to have to ask you if you will leave for that very reason.

MR. MITCHELL: Okay. I just thought the trial was open to the public.

THE COURT: It is. But this is a matter where I know there are some very hard feelings and some very serious problems between the two sides here in this matter, and we just don't want to have any error committed in this trial. I don't want to have to try it again. I hope we have handled this in a way that we have done it without any embarrassment to you. I hope, if you don't mind, that you will leave.

MR. MITCHELL: Can I stay on this floor?

THE COURT: I think it would be better if you weren't here right now. I think we would all feel more comfortable about the situation, and we would be able to pay full attention to the matter of a good legal, fair trial, if you would leave the area here.

MR. MITCHELL: Okay.

THE COURT: I appreciate that very much. Thank you.

(T.113-114). Judge Ballif thus requested that Mr. Mitchell leave the area, which he apparently did.

It should also be noted that Judge Ballif was very careful to admonish the jury not to talk to anyone else or between themselves about the case while

the court was in recess. He emphasized this necessity at the start of the trial in light of the fact that there was no jury room in the courthouse (T.18,80, 112,160,221,238).

Appellant has failed to allege that there was in fact any contact between Mr. Mitchell and any of the jurors. Allegations of possible contact do not establish prejudicial, reversible error. Nevertheless, it is apparent from the record in this case that no such contact did occur. The following exchange occurred just prior to Judge Ballif's instructing the jury:

MR. MUSSELMAN: I have one thing further, your Honor. We would ask that the Court informally, prior to, or as a part of the instructions, ask or encourage the jurors, in the event anyone has tried to discuss the case with them outside of the court, to bring that to the attention of the Court. I don't want to imply that anyone has, but if they have, we would like to be sure that they call that to the Court's attention.

My reason for the request is that after our discussion yesterday, Mr. Frank Mitchell remained in the building down near the snack bar--

THE COURT: He was off this floor? Wasn't that my order?

MR. MUSSELMAN: Was it just off this floor?

THE COURT: I thought it was, yes.

MR. AMBROSE: You told him to get out.

THE COURT: Well, I meant off this floor.

MR. MUSSELMAN: I remember him asking if he couldn't stay around this floor, and the Court asked him to leave, and probably the intent was just to leave this floor.

THE COURT: It was.

MR. MUSSELMAN: I'm not saying that he violated the Court's order. I'm just saying that in the event there was any discussion, or any attempt to influence the jurors on their way out, and I don't want to tell them that in that respect, but I would just request that the Court, in a general manner, and if it can sound like part of the instructions, encourage the jurors to bring that to the Court's attention, and that it is their duty if anyone has tried to do that.

THE COURT: All right. . .

(The following proceedings are being held in the courtroom with the jurors and all court personnel being present. These proceedings are starting at 9:45 a.m.)

THE COURT: Before the Court proceeds with the reading of the Instructions to the jury, I want to make a few comments. First of all, I hope you understand that the comments I make to you about out-of-court communications would mean, and carry with it the obligation on your part to convey to the Court any attempt anyone would make to influence you, or in any way comment about the case to you out of the court. And I assume that you would have done that, had that occurred? That has not occurred, as I understand it? All right. Fine. Thank you very much.

(T.242-243). The jurors were not in fact contacted or approached by Mr. Mitchell or anyone else and thus were not improperly influenced by outside sources. Appellant was not denied his right to trial by an impartial jury and his conviction should be affirmed.

## CONCLUSION

Respondent submits that the appellant has failed to allege or prove any prejudicial error occurring at his trial, as is shown in the foregoing argument and citation of authorities. Wherefore, respondent urges this Court to affirm appellant's conviction and sentence.